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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

             
Turnover
Net Loss
Total Net Assets
Loss per Stock Unit $

With the exception of the Directors listed above, no Director 
or any person/company connected to him/her has a stock
holding interest in the Company.

The Directors wish to express thanks to the management 
and staff for their continued commitment and hard work in 
2010.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, dated this 1st day of
JJuly 2011,

Brian Young
Chairman
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

a result of four key issues:-

OOver the year, input costs were negatively impacted by sig-
nificant increases in energy cost, new taxes applied to 
imports and diesel fuel, and the implementation of the 
Weight Restriction Act that increased both production and 
distribution costs. In the hyper competitive market place, 
with the continued presence of dumped cement from the 
Dominican Republic and the USA, the Company was not able 
tto correct selling prices and had to absorb these cost
inflations. 

The deterioration in the Group’s consolidated results was 
also due to the poor performance of subsidiary, Jamaica 
Gypsum & Quarries Limited, which incurred a loss after tax of 
$14m compared to a profit of $130m for the previous year. 
This was due to the combination of a reduction in tonnage 
sold and increased costs, particularly fuel, electricity and 
transportation.

Several cost-cutting measures were put in place by Manage-
ment to address both variable and fixed costs, including staff 
reduction of 34 employees. However, funding operations 
remained challenging throughout the year. 

First, while sales volumes and total cement production 
were only 2% below the 2009 performance, the 
changing market mix of local and export sales saw 
revenues falling by $939m. Domestic revenues actually 
fell by $1.1b as sales in the local market declined by a 
further 18.5% year over year.

TThe second issue was the closure of businesses as a 
result of the declaration of the State of Emergency, 
resulting in a climate of uncertainty and decline in 
business and consumer confidence with further
reduction in the domestic demand for cement.

The third issue was the severe weather conditions
experienced which exacerbated the soft market
cconditions.

Finally, as a result of the extremely soft domestic 
market, especially in the 3rd quarter of the year, the 
Company took the decision to shut down the clinker 
manufacturing line for 40 days to monetise clinker 
inventories which had risen to 161,000 tonnes,
equivalent to more than 200,000 tonnes of cement.
TThe shutdown of the kiln and the under-absorption of 
overheads during this period resulted in a significant 
adverse charge to the financial statements. However, it 
improved the short term working capital position of
the Company by over $100m.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
Continued
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

for an extended period earlier in the year until defective filter 
bags for the Kiln 5 baghouse were replaced. Communication 
with National Environmental Planning Agency (NEPA) was 
maintained during the non-conforming period and the kiln 
opacity has returned to its previous low levels following the 
corrective works in May. The plant was well within the NEPA 
target for NOx, SOx and CO emissions. 

TThe Company continues to maintain documented manage-
ment systems to guide its environmental, quality and 
security operations. The ISO 14001:2004 and ISPS systems 
were audited and re-certified. An ISO 9001:2008 Recertifica-
tion Audit was conducted during the year to determine the 
level of compliance with the newly revised ISO 9001:2008 
Standard. The Company was officially confirmed re-certified 
on September 30, 2010. Management reviews have
confirmed the adequacy, suitability and effectiveness of 
these management systems.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Continued

imported into Jamaica was dumped and injuring the 
domestic industry, was rebuffed. 

TThe Commission perversely concluded that while cement 
from both the USA and the DR was in fact dumped, with 
ascertained dumping margins of 60% and 85% respectively, 
“the dumping has not caused, is not causing and is not likely 
to cause material injury that is clearly foreseen and imminent 
to the Domestic Industry, within the meaning of the Act”.  The 
importers, emboldened by the ADSC’s ruling, became more 
aggaggressive in the market, significantly under-cutting Carib 
Cement’s prices. 

Cement exports on the other hand were up 120% over the 
previous year. In 2010, Carib Cement was recognized for its 
export achievement for 2009. The Jamaica Exporters Associa-
tion (JEA) awarded the President’s Cup for runner-up 
Champion Exporter and the award for Champion Manufac-
turer in Category II.  The Jamaica Manufacturers Association 
(JMA) additionally awarded the Company the Prime 
Minister’s Cup for Champion Exporter in the Large Exporter 
Category. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Continued
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Continued

emerge in a post downturn period. The recovery process 
remains fragile given the delicate balance that is needed to 
move the drivers of demand from public to private sector 
sources and the government policies to support this
transition.

TTherefore, while Jamaica is expected to emerge from its 
three-year recession in 2011, the country’s medium-term 
economic outlook remains relatively subdued. Most
fforecasts estimate that the GDP will grow by 1% in 2011.  The 
major growth drivers; tourism, the bauxite/alumina industry 
and remittances are all expected to show improvements into 
2011, giving value to expectations that the economy may 
turn-around in the medium to long term. However, there are 
still hurdles to overcome as the Government must find ways 
to balance meeting the targets set out in the IMF-Stand-By 
AgAgreement, stimulate the economy, deal with the scourge of 
crime and settle the public sector wage disputes that remain 
highly contentious. The economy continues to remain very 
susceptible to high energy prices and severe weather
conditions. 

The launch of the five-year US$400-million Jamaica
Development Infrastructure Programme (JDIP) involves a
comprehensive rehabilitation of the island's road network. 
The JDIP is designed to repair roads and bridges, train rivers, 
reinforce sea defenses and build bridges. There have also 
been other announcements of housing projects through the 
Housing Association of Jamaica, the National Housing Trust 
and private developers for next year, all of which bode well 
for the cement sector. 

TThe indications are therefore that the decline in cement
consumption will be arrested in 2011 and some small growth 
realized. The Company will therefore maintain close contact 
with the governmental agencies and other stakeholders to 
promote its value proposition of competitive pricing,
availability, quality, reliability, dependability and enhanced
technical services to ensure it wins a significant portion of 
these infthese infrastructural projects. 

At the same time, the focus on developing the export market 
base will be sustained. The Company is expected to
consolidate its entry into Haiti in the latter part of the year 
with the establishment of a warehousing facility in Port au 
Prince. New markets in the Dominican Republic and South 
and Central America are also being targeted for entry. 

TThe emphasis on controlling and reducing spending,
especially discretionary and overhead costs will be
maintained in 2011. Gains made in reducing overheads will 
be built upon and strategies employed to reduce training 
and development, communication, technical services and
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8 Oliver Road 
Kingston 8 
Jamaica 
 Tel: +876 925 2501 
Fax: 876 755 0413 
www.ey.com 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Partners: Allison Peart, Linval Freeman 

 Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of Caribbean Cement Company Limited and its Subsidiaries 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Caribbean Cement Company Limited and 
its Subsidiaries (the “Group”) and Caribbean Cement Company Limited (the “Company”) which 
comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2010, 
and the related consolidated and company statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.   
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT, CONTINUED 
 
To the Shareholders of Caribbean Cement Company Limited and its Subsidiaries, Continued 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial positions of the 
Group and the Company as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
performance, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act.   
 
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2a (iii) in the financial statements which 
indicates that the Group has incurred accumulated losses of $1,539,595,000 (Company: 
$1,742,603,000) as at 31 December 2010 and operating losses of $2,010,378,000 (Company: 
$2,015,535,000) for the year then ended. In addition, the Group’s current liabilities have exceeded 
its current assets by $839,251,000 (Company: $957,317,000) as at 31 December 2010. These 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2a (iii), indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis because, as 
described in Note 2a (iii), the Company’s management has embarked on a number of initiatives that, 
based on projections, demonstrate increases in revenue, cashflows and profitability of the Company, 
and hence improvement in the financial performance and position of the Group, for the year ending 
31 December 2011 and beyond. In addition, Trinidad Cement Limited (the parent company), has also 
embarked on a debt restructuring exercise with the intention to provide the financing necessary to 
enable the Group to continue in business.  
 
Report on Additional Requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act 
We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. In our opinion, proper accounting records have 
been maintained and the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records, and 
give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act in the manner so required. 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Kingston, Jamaica 
 
17 May 2011 

 



  

 

  

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
As at 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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 Notes  2010 
$’000 

 2009 
$’000 

NET ASSETS     

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 11  5,704,966 5,725,473 
Deferred tax asset  7  314,580 - 
Goodwill  12         17,489 17,489 
Intangible assets 13             3,725 9,222 
   6,040,760 5,752,184 
Current assets     
Inventories 15  2,278,492 2,681,024 
Receivables and prepayments 16  532,196 423,540 
Due from related companies 17  145,411 190,577 
Taxation recoverable   48,673         48,482 
Cash and cash equivalents 18  154,056 81,876 
   3,158,828 3,425,499 
Current liabilities     
Bank overdraft 19  168,153 - 
Payables and accruals 20  2,169,173 2,284,707 
Due to related companies 21  941,850 355,563 
Income tax payable   38,376 42,761 
Short-term loans 23  676,587 787,077 
Current portion of long-term loans 24  3,940 2,900 
   3,998,079 3,473,008 
Working capital deficit   (839,251) (47,509)
Non-current liabilities     
Due to related companies 21  2,165,895 2,068,499 
Long-term loans 24  4,006 3,178 
Deferred tax liability 7  9,055 392,902 
   2,178,956 2,464,579 
TOTAL NET ASSETS    3,022,553 3,240,096 
    
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  



  

 

  

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
As at 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY Notes  2010 
$’000 

 2009 
$’000 

     

Share capital:     
     Ordinary  25  1,808,837 1,808,837 
     Preference  25  1,339,650 - 
Reserves:     
     Realized capital gain   1,413,661 1,413,661 
     Accumulated losses (profits)   (1,539,595) 17,598 
GROUP EQUITY    3,022,553 3,240,096 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
On 17 May 2011, the Board of Directors authorized these financial statements for issue. 
 
  
………………………………………Director………………………………….Director 
Brian Young            Dr. Rollin Bertrand 
 
 
 
 
 
 



    

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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 Notes 
2010 

$’000  
2009 

$’000  
      
Revenue 3       7,929,783 8,869,260  

Operating (loss) profit 3  (2,010,378) 222,030 

Interest income 

Finance costs  5 

812

(232,794)

4,834

(467,892)

Loss before taxation        (2,242,360) (241,028)
Taxation credit 7 685,167 96,516

Net loss for the year 8       (1,557,193) (144,512)

   
Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity 

holders        (1,557,193) (144,512)

   

Loss per ordinary stock unit 9 ($1.83) ($0.17)

     

     
     
     
     

     
 
     

 
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 



  
   

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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Note
s 

 
 

Realized  
capital 

gain  
$’000 

 
 
 

Accumulated 
(losses)profits 

$’000 

 

Total 
reserves 

 $’000 

  
 

Ordinary 
share 

capital 
$’000 

  
 

Preference 
share 

capital 
$’000 

 
 

Total 
capital & 
reserves 

$’000 
             
Balance as at 1 January 2009  1,339,685  236,086  1,575,771  1,808,837  -  3,384,608 
Total comprehensive loss for the 

year 
 -  

(144,512) 
 

(144,512) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(144,512) 
Transfer of realized gain 6 73,976  (73,976)  -  -  -  - 
             
Balance as at 31 December 2009  1,413,661  17,598  1,431,259  1,808,837  -  3,240,096 
Total comprehensive loss for the 

year  -  (1,557,193)  (1,557,193)  -  -  (1,557,193) 
Issue of preference shares 25 -  -  -  -  1,339,650  1,339,650 
Balance as at 31 December 2010  1,413,661  (1,539,595)  (125,934)  1,808,837  1,339,650  3,022,553 
                     
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 



  

 

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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  2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Loss before taxation (2,242,360) (241,028)  
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation and amortization 386,852 317,835    
Amortization of deferred gain - (73,976)  
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,189 17,721  
Interest income                                                                                   (812) (4,834)  
Interest expense 333,452 173,498  
Unrealized foreign exchange (gains) losses  (97,474) 188,941  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
 (1,619,153) 378,157  
Decrease (increase) in inventories 402,532 (142,219)  
Increase in receivables and prepayments (111,315) (61,846)  
Decrease in due from related companies 45,166 325,764  
Decrease in payables and accruals (89,890) (363,849)  
Increase in due to related companies 586,287 124,196  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Cash (used in) generated from operations (786,373) 260,203  
Interest received 812 4,834  
Interest paid (207,661) (166,073)  
Taxation paid (17,835) (42,846)  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash (used in) generated from operating activities (1,011,057) 56,118  
 ---------------------  --------------------- 
Cash flows from investing activities  
Additions to property, plant and equipment (362,160) (972,132)  
Intangible assets - (8,381)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 122 663  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash used in investing activities (362,038) (979,850)  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Loans received 87,186 1,247,081  
Repayment of loans (193,513) (1,086,979)  
Related companies 1,383,449 855,789  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,277,122 1,015,891  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (95,973) 92,159  
Net cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 81,876 (10,283)  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash and cash equivalents – end of year (14,097) 81,876  
 =========== =========== 
Represented by: 
Cash and short-term deposits 154,056 81,876  
Bank overdraft (168,153) -  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
 (14,097) 81,876  
 =========== =========== 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 



  
 

  

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Company Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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 Notes 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 
ASSETS 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 11 5,542,868 5,555,328  
Investment in subsidiaries  14 89,310 89,310  
Deferred tax asset  7 314,580 -  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
   5,946,758 5,644,638  
                --------------------- -------------------- 
Current assets    
Inventories 15 2,269,503 2,636,850  
Receivables and prepayments 16 493,575 401,748  
Due from related companies 17 119,128 143,676  
Taxation recoverable  48,673 48,482 
Cash and cash equivalents 18 144,834 77,601  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
  3,075,713 3,308,357 
              --------------------- --------------------- 
Current liabilities 
Bank overdraft  19 168,153 -  
Payables and accruals 20 2,144,183 2,250,222  
Due to parent and related companies 21 941,850 355,563  
Due to subsidiary 22 98,317 77,467  
Short-term loans 23 676,587 787,077  
Current portion of long-term loans 24 3,940 2,900  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
  4,033,030 3,473,229  
  --------------------- ---------------------                       
Working capital deficit  (957,317) (164,872)  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
Non-current liabilities 
Due to parent and related companies 21 2,165,895 2,068,499  
Long-term loans 24 4,006 3,178  
Deferred tax liability 7 - 382,589  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
  2,169,901 2,454,266  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
TOTAL NET ASSETS  2,819,540 3,025,500 
  =========== =========== 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
  



  
 

  

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Company Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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 Notes 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Share capital: 
     Ordinary 25 1,808,837 1,808,837 
     Preference 25 1,339,650 - 
Reserves:  
     Realized capital gain  1,413,656 1,413,656 
     Accumulated losses  (1,742,603) (196,993) 
  --------------------- --------------------- 
COMPANY EQUITY  2,819,540 3,025,500  
  =========== =========== 
 
 
                                                                                                    
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
On 17 May 2011, the Board of Directors authorized these financial statements for issue. 
 
 
 
………………………………………..Director………………………………………….Director 
Brian Young            Dr. Rollin Bertrand 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

  

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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 Notes 2010 2009 
   $’000 $’000 
    
Revenue 3 7,741,321 8,695,025  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
 
Operating (loss) profit  3 (2,015,535) 26,410  
Interest income  763 843 
Finance costs 5 (228,007) (468,007)  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
Loss before taxation  (2,242,779) (440,754)  
 
Taxation credit 7 697,169 157,522  
  --------------------- --------------------- 
Net loss for the year 8 (1,545,610) (283,232)  
          ===========    ===========  
                 
Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity 

holders  (1,545,610) (283,232)  
          ===========    ===========  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.



  
 

  

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Company Statement of Changes In Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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Notes 

 
 

Realized  
capital  

gain  
$’000 

 
 
  

Accumulated 
(losses) profits  

$’000 

 

Total 
reserves 

 $’000 

  
 

Ordinary 
share 

capital 
$’000 

  
 

Preference 
share 

capital 
$’000 

 
 

Total 
capital & 
reserves 

$’000 
             
Balance as at 1 January 2009  1,339,680  160,215  1,499,895  1,808,837  -  3,308,732 
Total comprehensive loss for the 

year 
 -  

(283,232) 
 

(283,232) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(283,232) 
Transfer of realized gain  6 73,976  (73,976)  -  -  -  - 
             
Balance as at 31 December 2009  1,413,656  (196,993)  1,216,663  1,808,837  -  3,025,500 
Total comprehensive loss for the 

year 
 -  

(1,545,610) 
 

(1,545,610) 
 

              - 
 

- 
 

(1,545,610) 
Issue of preference shares 25 -  -  -  -  1,339,650  1,339,650 
Balance as at 31 December 2010  1,413,656  (1,742,603)  (328,947)  1,808,837  1,339,650  2,819,540 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 



    

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Company Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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  2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Loss before taxation (2,242,779) (440,754)  
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation 367,577 295,269    
Amortization of deferred gain - (73,976)  
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,189 17,721  
Interest income (763) (843)  
Interest expense 333,427 173,613  
Unrealized foreign exchange (gains) losses  (97,025) 192,941  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
 (1,638,374) 163,971  
Decrease (increase) in inventories 367,347 (136,038)  
Decrease in receivables and prepayments (94,934) (71,078)  
Decrease in due from related companies 24,548 368,891  
Decrease in payables and accruals (80,395) (325,064)  
Increase in due to parent and related companies 586,287 124,196  
Increase (decrease) in due to subsidiary 20,850 (83,766) 
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Cash (used in) generated from operations (814,671) 41,112  
Interest received 763 843  
Interest paid (207,636) (161,264)  
Taxation paid (191) (1,677)  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash used in operating activities (1,021,735) (120,986)  
 ---------------------  --------------------- 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Additions to property, plant and equipment (356,429) (969,155)  
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 122 663   
Repayment by subsidiaries - 90,862 
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash used in investing activities (356,307) (877,630)  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Loans received 87,186 1,247,081  
Repayment of loans (193,513) (997,236)  
Related companies 1,383,449 842,865  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,277,122 1,092,710  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (100,920) 94,094   
Net cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 77,601 (16,493) 
 --------------------- --------------------- 
Net cash and cash equivalents – end of year (23,319) 77,601  
 =========== =========== 
Represented by: 
Cash and short-term deposits 144,834 77,601  
Bank overdraft (168,153) -  
 --------------------- --------------------- 
 (23,319) 77,601  
 =========== =========== 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 



    

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
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1. Corporate information 
 

 Caribbean Cement Company Limited (the “Company”) and its Subsidiaries are 
incorporated under the laws of Jamaica. The Company is a public company listed on the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 
 The Company is a 65.65% owned subsidiary of TCL (Nevis) Limited. TCL (Nevis) 

Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Trinidad Cement Limited (the “Ultimate Parent 
Company”) which also owns 8.45% of the ordinary shares of the Company. The principal 
activities of Caribbean Cement Company Limited and its Subsidiaries (the “Group”) are 
the manufacture and sale of cement and the mining and sale of gypsum, shale and 
pozzolan.  

 
  The registered office of the Company is Rockfort, Kingston, Jamaica. 
 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 

a) Basis of preparation 
 

(i) Statement of compliance 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of 
the Jamaican Companies Act. 

 
(ii)  Basis of measurement 
 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention except for the measurement at deemed cost of certain property, 
plant and equipment. Deemed cost represents fair value at the date of 
transition to IFRS. 

 
(iii) Going concern 

The Group’s and the Company’s current economic environment is 
challenging and as a result, the Group has reported accumulated losses of 
$1,539,595,000 (Company: $1,742,603,000) as at 31 December 2010 and 
operating losses of $2,010,378,000 (Company: $2,015,535,000) for the year 
then ended. In addition, the Group’s current liabilities have exceeded its 
current assets by $839,251,000 (Company: $957,317,000) as at 31 December 
2010. The directors consider that the outlook will remain challenging despite 
some recent positive indicators of growth in the domestic market for cement 
and plans for expansion into more lucrative export markets.  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(iii) Going concern (continued) 
If lease charges and depreciation and amortization are excluded from the 
Group’s operating results, its operating loss of $2,010,378,000 would have 
been an operating profit of $270,812,000 and the Company’s operating loss   
of $2,015,535,000 would have been a operating profit of $246,381,000, 
demonstrating that even with the reduced domestic sales volume which  
declined by 9% and 19% in 2009 and 2010, respectively, the Group can fund 
its operations from internally generated cash. That positive cash position has 
been improving each month during 2011 and provides a certain level of 
optimism about the future if the lease charges by Trinidad Cement Limited 
(the parent company or TCL) are renegotiated. 
 
The directors of TCL are currently undertaking negotiations with all its 
lenders for the re-profiling of its debt portfolio and the lenders are 
participating in the process without prejudice to their legal rights. Upon 
completion of the debt re-profiling, which is expected to be completed by 31 
July 2011, the directors of the Company will be re-negotiating the existing 
operating lease payments with the parent company to reduce the required 
annual cash outflow: the lease charges will be aligned with the re-profiling of 
TCL’s debt associated with the leased assets and assumed lower domestic 
demand volumes whilst higher export volumes are pursued. 
 
The Company has placed a proposal for the supply of a relatively large 
amount of cement to a potential new customer under a three year contract. 
The customer’s decision is awaited, but if awarded to the Company, the 
contract would make a significant contribution to the Company’s forecast 
turnover and net cash flows over the contract period. Concurrently, the 
directors are pursuing a number of other new markets with some level of 
success to date such as in the case of Haiti and Dominican Republic. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(iii) Going concern (continued) 
 
Notwithstanding the explicit action taken by the majority of lenders to re-
profile TCL’s debt portfolio, lenders have retained their rights to demand 
immediate repayment of all outstanding obligations which TCL is not in a 
position to meet. Therefore secured lenders can initiate legal action to 
enforce their security which includes Kiln 5 and Cement Mill 5, that would 
render the Group and the Company unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
The declaration by TCL of a moratorium on all debt service payments due by 
TCL and all its related entities, including the Group, triggered a demand 
notice from one of the Company’s unsecured lenders for immediate 
repayment of outstanding obligations of $122,372,000 and Letter of Credit 
for US$1,946,000 which had not yet crystallized. Of these totals, 
$122,372,000 and US$1,239,000 have since been liquidated with the 
repayment of the remainder under discussion with the lender. 
 
The directors have concluded that the combination of the above 
circumstances represent a material uncertainty that casts significant doubt 
about the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Nevertheless, after making enquiries and considering the uncertainties, the 
directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company will 
have adequate resources, based on the plans and strategies as outlined in the 
preceding paragraphs, to generate adequate cash flows and profitability that  
will allow the Group and the Company to continue in operational existence in 
the foreseeable future. For these reasons, the directors continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing these financial statements. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(iv) Current year changes in accounting standards and interpretations 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous 
financial year except that the Group has adopted the following new and 
amended IFRSs and IFRIC (International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee) interpretations as of 1 January 2010: 

 
§ IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended) 
§ IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – 

Eligible Hedged Items 
§ IFRIC 17: Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners  
§ IFRS 2: Share-based Payment: Group Cash settled Share-based 

Payment Transactions  
§ IFRS 3: Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27: Consolidated 

and Separate Financial Statements (Amended) 
 

The adoption of these Standards and Interpretations is deemed not to have an 
impact on the financial statements or performance of the Group. 

 
Improvements to IFRSs 
 
In April 2009 the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued 
omnibus amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to removing 
inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional 
provisions for each standard. The following amendments resulted in changes to 
accounting policies but did not have any impact on the financial position or 
performance of the Group: 
 
IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements The amendment clarifies the 
current/non-current classification of convertible instruments where the terms of 
a liability that could at any time result in its settlement by the issuance of 
equity instruments at the option of the counterparty, does not affect its 
classification. 
 
IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows States that only expenditure that results in 
recognizing an asset can be classified as a cash flow from investing activities. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(iv) Current year changes in accounting standards and interpretations 
(continued)  

 
Improvements to IFRSs (continued) 
 
IAS 8: Operating segments The amendment clarifies that segment assets and 
liabilities need only be reported when those assets and liabilities are included in 
measures used by the chief operating decision maker. 
 
IAS 17: Leases The specific guidance on classifying land as a lease has been 
removed so that only the general guidance remains. 
 
IAS 36: Impairment of assets The amendment clarifies that the largest unit 
permitted for allocating goodwill acquired in a business combination is the 
operating segment defined in IFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes. 
 
Other amendments 
 
Other amendments to IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations resulting from the 
IASB’s improvements projects that are either not applicable to the Group or 
did not have any impact on the accounting policies, financial position or 
performance of the Group are as follows: 
 
§ IFRS 2: Share-based Payment  
§ IFRS 5: Non-current Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations  
§ IAS 38: Intangible Assets 
§ IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
§ IFRIC 9: Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives  
§ IFRIC 16: Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(v) Future changes in accounting standards and interpretations 
 

The Group has not adopted early the following new and revised IFRSs and 
IFRIC interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective or are 
likely to have a significant impact on the Group’s operations:  
 
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Amendment) 
The amended standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011. It clarified the definition of a related party to simplify the 
identification of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its 
application. The revised standard introduces a partial exemption of disclosure 
requirements for government related entities. The Group does not expect any 
impact on its financial position or performance. Early adoption is permitted for 
either the partial exemption for government-related entities or for the entire 
standard. 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of Rights Issues 
(Amendment) 
The amendment to IAS 32 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 February 2010 and amended the definition of a financial liability in order to 
classify rights issues (and certain options or warrants) as equity instruments in 
cases where such rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the 
same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, or to acquire a 
fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any 
currency. This amendment will have no impact on the Group after initial 
application. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first phase of the IASBs work on the replacement 
of IAS 39 and applies to classification and measurement of financial assets as 
defined in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address 
classification and measurement of financial liabilities, hedge accounting and 
derecognition. The completion of this project is expected in early 2011. The 
adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification 
and measurement of the Group’s financial assets. The Group will quantify the 
effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a 
comprehensive picture. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

           (v)      Future changes in accounting standard and interpretations, (continued)  
 

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 
(Amendment) 
The amendment to IFRIC 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011 with retrospective application. The amendment 
provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net pension 
asset. The amendment permits an entity to treat the prepayment of a 
minimum funding requirement as an asset. The amendment will have no 
impact on the financial statements of the Group. 
 
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 
IFRIC 19 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 
The interpretation clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to 
extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The equity 
instruments issued are measured at their fair value. In case that this cannot 
be reliably measured, the instruments are measured at the fair value of the 
liability extinguished. Any gain or loss is recognized immediately in profit 
or loss. The adoption of this interpretation will have no effect on the 
financial statements of the Group. 

 
Improvements to IFRSs (issued in May 2010) 
 
The IASB issued improvements to IFRSs, an omnibus of amendments to its 
IFRS standards. The amendments have not been adopted as they will 
become effective for annual periods on or after either 1 July 2010 or 1 
January 2011. The amended IFRSs and IFRICs are as follows: 
 
§ IFRS 3: Business Combinations  
§ IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
§ IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements 
§ IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
§ IAS 34: Interim Financial Reporting 
§ IFRIC 13: Customer Loyalty Programmes 

 
The Group expects no impact from the adoption of the amendments on its 
financial position or performance. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

b)  Basis of consolidation 
 

The Group’s financial statements present the results of operations and financial 
position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as follows: 

 
   Ownership 
  Subsidiaries:      Level 
 
  Jamaica Gypsum and Quarries Limited                                     100% 
  Caribbean Gypsum Company Limited                                       100% 
                  Rockfort Mineral Bath Complex Limited                                  100% 
 

The financial statements for the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting 
period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. 

 
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealized gains and losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 
 
Caribbean Gypsum Company Limited had no trading activities during the year. 
 

c)  Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
  Borrowings are stated initially at cost, being the fair value of consideration 

received net of transaction cost associated with the borrowings. After initial 
recognition, borrowings are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method; any difference between proceeds and the redemption value is 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the 
borrowings. 

 
d)       Property, plant and equipment 

Land and buildings, held for use in the production or supply of goods and services 
or for administrative purposes, and certain machinery and equipment are stated in 
the statement of financial position at their deemed cost, being the fair value on the 
basis of their existing use at the date of the adoption of IFRS 1, less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  The values of these 
assets are subject to annual management reviews.   

 
Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment in value.  Such cost includes the cost of 
replacing part of the plant and equipment when that cost is incurred, if the 
recognition criteria are met.  Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its 
cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.  All other repair and 
maintenance costs are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as 
incurred. Land is not depreciated. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

 d)       Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method over the useful lives of the 
assets.  Current annual rates of depreciation are: 
 

  Buildings    2.5% to   5% 
  Plant, machinery and equipment     3% to 33.3% 
  Office furniture and equipment        25% to 33.3% 
  Motor vehicles        20% to 33.3% 

 
Leasehold land and improvements are amortized over the remaining term of the 
lease.   
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognized. 
 
The useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each financial year end.  
 
It is the Group’s policy to capitalize interest on loans specific to capital projects 
during the period of construction.  The interest rate is determined by using the 
weighted average cost of capital.   
 

e) Inventories  
Plant spares and raw materials are valued at the lower of weighted average cost 
and net realizable value.  Work in progress and finished goods are valued at the 
lower of cost, including attributable production overheads, and net realizable 
value.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale. 
 

f) Financial instruments 
Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash 
and bank balances, short-term deposits, receivables, long-term loans, related 
company balances and payables. The particular recognition methods adopted are 
disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each item. 

 
The fair values of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments are 
discussed in Note 31. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

       g) Foreign currency translation 
The Group’s functional and presentation currency is Jamaican dollars. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Jamaican dollars are 
translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the date of the statement of financial 
position. Non-monetary assets and liabilities and transactions denominated in 
currencies other than Jamaican dollars are translated at the rate of exchange in 
effect at the date of the transaction.  Exchange differences on foreign currency 
translations are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Exchange 
rates are determined by the published weighted average rate at which commercial 
banks trade in foreign currencies.  

 
h) Taxation 

The taxation charge is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items, 
which are non-assessable or disallowed.  The taxation charge is calculated using 
the tax rate in effect at the statement of financial position date. 

 
A deferred tax charge is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary 
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.   

  
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilized.   
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of 
financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient future taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax assets to be utilized. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the year when the assets are realized or the liabilities are settled, based on 
tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
statement of financial position date. 

 
i) Pension benefits 

The Group has a defined contribution pension scheme for all permanent 
employees.  The scheme is managed by an outside agency.  The Group’s liability 
is limited to its contributions which are accounted for on the accrual basis and 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which they 
relate. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

j) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, 
rebates, and other sales taxes or duty.  The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognized: 
 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risk and 
rewards of ownership of goods have been passed to the buyers and the amounts of 
revenue can be measured reliably. 
 
Rental and interest income are recognized as they accrue unless collectability is in 
doubt. 

 
k) Receivables and payables 

Trade receivables are carried at anticipated realizable value.  A provision is made 
for doubtful receivables based on a review of outstanding amounts at the year end.  
Bad debts are written off when identified. 

 
Liabilities for trade and other accounts payable, which are normally settled on 30 
to 90 days terms, are recorded at amounts representing the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received by the 
statement of financial position date, whether or not billed. 

 
l)  Net cash and cash equivalents 

 For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, net cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less, net of bank overdraft. 
 

m)   Earnings per stock unit 
The earnings per stock unit is computed by dividing profit attributable to ordinary 
stockholders by the weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue 
during the year. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

n)  Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 
in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.  The areas involving the highest degree of judgement or 
estimation are: 
 
(i)     Provision for cement claims 

In some instances the amounts provided for cement claims not yet settled are 
based on the payment experience for claims already settled and reports 
submitted by independent professionals.   

 
(ii)   Accruals 

Amounts accrued for certain expenses are based on estimates and are 
included in payables and accruals. 

  
(iii)   Impairment of goodwill 

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis. This 
requires an estimate of the value in use of the cash generating units to which 
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make 
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit 
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of these cash flows.   

 
(iv)  Deferred tax assets 

In recognizing a deferred tax asset for unused tax losses, management uses 
judgment to determine the probability that future taxable profits will be 
available to facilitate utilization of these unused tax losses. 

 
(v)    Property, plant and equipment 

Management exercises judgement in determining whether costs incurred can 
accrue significant future economic benefits to the Group to enable the value 
to be treated as a capital expense. 

 
 Further judgement is applied in the annual review of the useful lives of all  
 categories of property, plant and equipment and the resulting depreciation  
 determined thereon.  
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2.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(vi)  Allowance for impairment losses on receivables 
In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses in the financial 
statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of 
impairment, that is, whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from receivables, for 
example, default and adverse economic conditions.  Management also makes 
estimates of the likely estimated future cash flows from impaired receivables 
as well as the timing of such cash flows.  Historical loss experience is applied 
where indicators of impairment are not observable on individually significant 
receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit risks. 

 
(vii)  Provision for obsolescence  

Estimates of provision for obsolescence are based on the most reliable 
evidence available at the time the estimates are made, of the amount the 
inventories are expected to realize.  Estimates of provision for obsolescence 
also take into consideration the purpose for which the inventory is held. 
 

o)  Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate of the amount can be made.  The expense relating to any 
provision is charged to the statement of comprehensive income net of any 
reimbursement. 

 
p)  Operating leases 

Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively 
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  Payments made under 
operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income over the 
period of the lease relative to the benefit expected to be derived from the use of 
the asset. 
 

q)  Deferred expenditure 
The costs of installed refractories, chains and grinding media are amortized over a 
period of six to twelve months to match the estimated period of their economic 
usefulness. 
 

 



    

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
 

26 
 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

r) Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or 
cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  Where 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time   
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  In determining fair value less 
costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used.                                          
 
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 
publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

 
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income in those expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired asset, except for property previously revalued where the valuation 
was taken to equity.  In this case the impairment is also recognized in equity up to 
the amount of any previous revaluation. 

 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may 
no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the Group makes 
an estimate of recoverable amount.  A previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that 
is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  Impairment losses 
recognized in relation to goodwill are not reversed for subsequent increases in its 
recoverable amount. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

r) Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 
 

The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of goodwill: 
 
• Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired; 
 

• Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of 
the cash generating unit, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated, an impairment loss 
is recognized. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in 
future periods. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as 
at 31 December.  

 
s) Investments 

Equity investments in subsidiaries, classified as non-current, are stated at cost less 
impairment adjustments.  

 
t) Segment reporting 

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in 
providing an individual product or service or a group of related products or 
services and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of 
other segments. The Group bases its segment reporting on business segments 
whose results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s management to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance, for which discrete financial information is available and, from 
which it earns income and incurs expenses.  
 

u) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are measured on initial recognition at cost.  Following initial 
recognition, they are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

 
Amortization of these assets is computed on the straight line method over a three 
year period. 

 
v) Comparative balances 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with 
changes in presentation in the current year in relation to the fair values 
presentation of financial assets and liabilities. 
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3. Operating profit 
 
 Operating profit consists of the following: 
                                                                                   Group                                    Company 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  
 Revenue 7,929,783 8,869,260 7,741,321 8,695,025 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 Expenses: 
 Raw materials and consumables 767,572 693,181 1,035,404 1,010,437 
 Fuels and electricity 2,493,137 2,293,655 2,459,323 2,286,323 
 Personnel remuneration  
    and benefits (Note 4) 1,995,224 1,842,888 1,916,339 1,785,461 
 Repairs and maintenance 374,388 362,254 331,635 308,745 
 Operating lease 1,894,338 1,791,297 1,894,338 1,791,297 
 Depreciation and amortization 386,852 317,835 367,578 295,269 
 Marketing and selling expenses 151,011 202,175 131,220 152,823 
 Transportation  333,272 303,062 298,747 282,969 
 Insurance 197,987 168,339 192,186 163,621 
 Training and staff development 62,604 83,521 62,604 83,481 
 Technical assistance fees and  
      related charges  190,409 165,161 186,617 163,717 
 Security 110,076 98,567 88,824 78,415 
 Equipment hire 413,978 350,111 328,480 313,954 
 Other operating expenses 360,935 386,822 306,492 349,826 
 Changes in inventories of 
    finished goods and work in  
    progress 264,829 (325,671) 213,451 (313,316) 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 Total expenses 9,996,612 8,733,197 9,813,238 8,753,022 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 
 (Loss) profit before other income (2,066,829) 136,063 (2,071,917) (57,997) 
 Other income 56,451 85,967 56,382 84,407 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 Operating (loss) profit   (2,010,378) 222,030 (2,015,535) 26,410 
                                                                                         
 Other income includes: 
 Amortization of deferred 
    gain (Note 6) - 73,976 - 73,976 
 Insurance claim  15,605 - 15,605 - 
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3. Operating profit (continued) 
 
 Operating profit is arrived at after charging: 
 
                                                                                           Group                            Company 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Audit fees 
    Current year 11,910 11,979 10,595 10,595 
 Prior year 110 345 - 345 
  Directors’ emoluments   
    Fees – current year 7,836 9,638 7,836 9,638 
            – prior year - 1,664 - 1,664 
                                                                                                                     
  
 
4. Personnel remuneration and benefits 
 
 Personnel remuneration and benefits consist of the following: 
 
                                                                                    Group                          Company 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Wages and salaries 1,426,285 1,394,444 1,361,579 1,348,821 
 Statutory contributions 123,866 126,124 117,734 121,495 
 Pension costs (Note 26) 64,145 65,966 62,834 65,073 
 Redundancy costs 93,081 - 93,081 - 
 Other personnel costs 287,847 256,354 281,111 250,072 
 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 1,995,224 1,842,888 1,916,339 1,785,461  
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5.      Finance costs 
 

Finance costs consist of the following: 
 

                                                                                    Group                               Company 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  
 
 Interest expense 333,452 173,498 333,427 173,613 
 (Gain) loss on currency exchange (100,658) 294,394 (105,420) 294,394  
 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 232,794 467,892 228,007 468,007  
          ========= ========= ========= ========= 
 
6. Deferred gain 
                                                                                                             Group and Company 
     2010 2009 
     $’000 $’000 
 
 Balance at 1 January    - 73,976  
 Amortization for the year   - (73,976) 
     ------------------ ------------------- 
 Balance at 31 December    - - 
     ========= ========= 
  

Deferred gain represented the profit from the sale of certain machinery and equipment in 
August 1999 which was being credited to the statement of comprehensive income over the 
10 year period of the original operating lease. 

 
 The prior years’ amortization gains were transferred to capital reserve as realized capital 

gains. 
 
7.      Taxation 
                                                                                     Group  Company 
  
   2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Statement of comprehensive  

income 
 The taxation credit consists of:  

Deferred tax credit                        698,427 155,542 697,169 157,522  
Income tax charge - current year (268) (59,026) - -  
                              - prior year  
 under-accrual (12,992) - - - 
 ----------------- ------------------ ----------------- ------------------- 
 685,167 96,516 697,169 157,522  
 ========= ========= ========= ========== 
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7.      Taxation (continued) 
    
 The taxation credit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the income 

tax rate as follows: 
 
               Group                               Company   
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Loss before taxation (2,242,360) (241,028) (2,242,779) (440,754) 
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 Taxed at 33.3% 747,453 80,343 747,593 146,918 
  
 Tax on non-assessable income 5,202 27,307 5,202 27,568  
 Tax on non-allowable expenses (59,388) (9,715) (56,535) (10,572) 
 Other 4,892 (1,419) 909 (6,392)  
 Prior year under-accrual (12,992) - - - 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 Effective tax credit 685,167 96,516 697,169 157,522  
                                                                                           
 
 Group Company  
   2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Deferred tax asset (liability)  
 Balance at beginning of year             (392,902) (548,444)    (382,589) (540,111)  
 Deferred tax credit for the year 698,427 155,542 697,169 157,522  
     ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 Balance at end of year, net           305,525 (392,902)  314,580 (382,589)  
                                                                                             
    
 

Deferred tax asset (liability) comprises the following:  
 

 Group Company  
   2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 
Deferred liability in  

 subsidiary, net        (9,055) (10,312) - -         
Deferred asset (liability) in  

 Company, net 314,580 (382,590) 314,580 (382,589)  
          -----------------   -----------------       -----------------    ----------------- 
 305,525 (392,902) 314,580 (382,589)  

  ========= ========= ========= ========= 
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7.  Taxation (continued) 
 

The significant components of deferred tax asset (liability) are as follows: 
 

    Group                                    Company                        
   2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Deferred liability: 
 Property, plant and equipment (1,264,834) (843,133) (1,255,173) (832,206)  
 Unrealized exchange gains (32,342) - (32,342) -  
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
   (1,297,176) (843,133) (1,287,515) (832,206) 
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
 
 Deferred asset: 
 Tax losses 1,461,222 324,112 1,461,222 324,112  
 Unrealized exchange losses - 62,980 - 64,310  
 Accrued vacation 45,290 43,473 45,290 43,473  
 Accrued redundancy 31,027 - 31,027 - 
 Other 65,162 19,666 64,556 17,722  
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
   1,602,701 450,231 1,602,095 449,617  
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
   305,525 (392,902) 314,580 (382,589) 
   ========= ========= ========= =========  

 
Subject to agreement with the Taxpayer Audit and Assessment Department, losses 
available for offset against future profits amount to approximately $4,383,667,000 (2009 - 
$1,012,390,000) for the Group  and the Company.   
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8. Loss after taxation and accumulated losses 
 
    2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 

a) The net (loss) profit is dealt with in the financial 
statements as follows: 

 
Company (1,545,610) (283,232)  
Subsidiaries (11,583) 138,720 
 --------------------- ---------------------  
 (1,557,193) (144,512)  
 =========== =========== 

b) The accumulated (losses) profits are reflected in 
the financial statements as follows: 

 
  Company (1,742,603) (196,993) 

 Subsidiaries 203,008 214,591 
  --------------------- ---------------------  

   (1,539,595) 17,598   
   =========== =========== 
 
9. Loss per ordinary stock unit 
                                                            Group                                       
                                                
    2010 2009  
    $’000 $’000 
 Loss attributable to  
               stockholders   (1,557,193) (144,512)  
                                           
 Number of stock units in 
      issue (thousands)   851,138 851,138  
                                          
 Loss per ordinary  
     stock unit    ($1.83)  ($0.17)  
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10. Related party transactions 
 
 a) Transactions with Trinidad Cement Limited and its subsidiaries: 
 
  Group Company  
   2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Included in the statement of  

  comprehensive income: 
    
  (Income) expenses – 
   

                  Sale of gypsum (38,044) (44,260) - -  
          Sale of cement (427,394) (88,018) (427,394) (88,018)  
          Sale of clinker (133,462) (487,349) (133,462) (487,349)  
          Freight charges 2,008 17,853 2,008 17,853  
          Technical fee charges 76,883 78,146 76,883 78,146  
 Purchase of goods and materials 457,540 304,918 457,540 304,918 
 Interest charges on advances 129,678 15,053 129,678    15,053    
 Operating lease (Note 11)     1,894,338 1,791,297 1,894,338 1,791,297   
  ========= ========= ========= ======== 
    
  Included in the statement of financial position: 
 Group Company  
   2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

  Short-term amounts received net 632,512 396,374 611,895 439,501  
 Long-term amounts received net 101,106 965,702 101,106 965,702  
  ======== ======== ======= ======= 

Included in property, plant  
 and equipment: 

  Interest capitalized - 99,599 - 99,599  
  ======== ======= ====== ======
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10. Related party transactions (continued) 
 

b) Transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, Jamaica Gypsum and 
Quarries Limited: 

 
  Company 
  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 
 
 Included in the Company statement of comprehensive  

income: 
 
 Purchase of gypsum, shale and pozzolan 264,422 322,639  
 Port fees paid  25,674 36,000 
 Management fee received  (36,000) - 
  ======== ========                   
    
  

c) Compensation of directors and key management personnel 
 
   Group  Company 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Short-term employee benefits 89,586 115,480 89,586 115,480 
   
 Directors’ fees – current year 7,836 9,638 7,836 9,638 
                                – prior year - 1,664 - 1,664 
  --------------- --------------- -------------- -------------- 
  97,422 126,782 97,422 126,782  
  ======= ======= ======= =======  
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11. Property, plant and equipment 
 
  Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:  
 
             Group: 
                                          2010                                                        
  

    Plant 
    machinery, Office Capital 
   Land and equipment and furniture and work in  
   buildings motor vehicles equipment progress Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 At cost   
 1 January 2010  1,136,376 6,122,169  302,937 1,291,142   8,852,624 
 Additions - - - 362,160 362,160 
 Disposals and adjustments - (12,822) - - (12,822) 
 Transfers 31,823 1,272,873 728 (1,305,424) - 
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- --------------------- 
 31 December 2010 1,168,199 7,382,220 303,665 347,878 9,201,962 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------------                                                  
  
 Accumulated depreciation  
 1 January 2010 451,264 2,478,490 197,397 - 3,127,151 
 Charges during the year 32,414 331,996 16,945 - 381,355 
 Disposals and adjustments - (11,510) - - (11,510) 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------------- 
   31 December 2010 483,678 2,798,976 214,342 - 3,496,996 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------------  
 Net book value  
 31 December 2010 684,521 4,583,244 89,323 347,878 5,704,966 
  ======== ======== ======== =========     ===========
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:  

 
             Group: 
                                 2009                                                        
  

    Plant 
    machinery, Office Capital 
   Land and equipment and furniture and work in  
   buildings motor vehicles equipment progress Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 At cost   
 1 January 2009  999,519   5,948,960  277,899 675,338            7,901,716 
 Additions - 95 133 971,904            972,132 
 Disposals and adjustments -                         (8,467)                         -  (12,757)                  (21,224) 
 Transfers 136,857 181,581 24,905  (343,343) - 
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------- 
 31 December 2009 1,136,376 6,122,169 302,937 1,291,142 8,852,624 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------------
                                                   

 Accumulated depreciation  
 1 January 2009 425,338 2,210,987 180,130 - 2,816,455 
 Charges during the year 25,926 270,343 17,267 - 313,536 
 Disposals - (2,840) -    - (2,840) 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------- 
   31 December 2009 451,264 2,478,490 197,397 - 3,127,151 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------- 
 Net book value  
 31 December 2009 685,112 3,643,679 105,540 1,291,142 5,725,473 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
 Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:  
 
            Company: 
                                 2010                                                        

  
    Plant 
    machinery, Office Capital 
   Land and equipment and furniture and work in  
   buildings motor vehicles equipment progress Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 At cost   
 1 January 2010 996,459 5,931,751 301,670 1,274,972 8,504,852 
 Additions    - - - 356,429 356,429 
 Disposals and adjustments                                                         -          (12,822) - - (12,822) 
 Transfers 29,451 1,272,396 624 (1,302,471) - 
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------- 
 31 December 2010 1,025,910 7,191,325 302,294 328,930 8,848,459 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- -------------------- 
 Accumulated depreciation  
 1 January 2010 408,727 2,345,569 195,228 - 2,949,524 
 Disposals and adjustments - (11,510) - - (11,510) 
 Charges during the year 29,321 321,519 16,737 - 367,577 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- --------------------- 
   31 December 2010 438,048 2,655,578 211,965 - 3,305,591 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- --------------------- 
 Net book value 
 31 December 2010 587,862 4,535,747 90,329 328,930 5,542,868 
 ======== ======== ======== =========     ========== 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
 Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:  
 
             Company: 
                     2009                                                        

  
    Plant 
    machinery, Office Capital 
   Land and equipment and furniture and work in  
   buildings motor vehicles equipment progress        Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000                     $’000 
 At cost   
 1 January 2009 862,390 5,761,576 276,765 656,190     7,556,921
 Additions                                                                                   -                    -                   - 969,155        969,155
 Disposals                                                                                    - (8,467) -      (12,757)        (21,224) 
 Transfers 134,069 178,642 24,905 (337,616) - 
   ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- --------------------- 
 31 December 2009 996,459 5,931,751 301,670 1,274,972 8,504,852 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- --------------------
                   

 Accumulated depreciation  
 1 January 2009 388,501 2,090,356 178,238                                -   2,657,095 
 Charges during the year 20,226 258,053 16,990 - 295,269
 Disposals                                                                      - (2,840) - - (2,840) 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- -------------------- 
   31 December 2009 408,727 2,345,569 195,228 - 2,949,524 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ------------------- -------------------- 
 Net book value 
 31 December 2009 587,732 3,586,182 106,442 1,274,972 5,555,328 

  ======== ======== ======== =========     ==========                   
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

a)  In August 2004, an arrangement to lease Kiln 4 from Trinidad Cement Limited (TCL) 
was executed by the Company. This lease extends to 2014 (Note 28) and can be 
terminated at the option of the Company. 

  
      In December 2008, Kiln 5 was completed and commissioned. Certain units of the kiln 

are owned by TCL and the rest is owned by the Company. On 1 December 2008, the 
Company entered into a lease arrangement with TCL which ends in 2028, in respect 
of the units that TCL owns (Note 28). 

  
 Cement Mill 5 assets are partly owned by TCL and the rest is owned by the 

Company. On commissioning of the Mill in January 2010, the Company entered into 
a lease arrangement with TCL in respect of the units that TCL owns. Cement Mill 5 
lease is scheduled to expire in 2044 (Note 28). 

 
b) TCL secured loans originally in the amount of US$105,000,000 in order to finance 

the construction of Kiln 5 and Cement Mill 5. The loans are secured by a first charge 
on Kiln 5 and Cement Mill 5, owned by TCL but leased to the Company, and a 
debenture over fixed and floating assets of the Company in addition to the 
maintenance of several financial ratios and covenants. 

 
c) The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during the previous year amounted to 

$125,974,000. There was no capitalization of interest during the year. 
 
d) Included under plant and machinery is the Kiln 4 asset with a carrying value of 

$577,533,000. This asset is not currently operating and is therefore idle. Management 
is expected to recommence operations of the Kiln in the medium term based on 
expected future market demands. The asset continues to be depreciated based on its 
current economic life. 

 
12.  Goodwill 
  Goodwill arises on consolidation and relates to the acquisition of Jamaica Gypsum and 

Quarries Limited.  
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13. Intangible assets 
 
   
  

 Exploration  
cost 

Dredging  
cost 

Total 
2010  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 
At cost     
1 January 2009   2,521 5,189 7,710 
Additions  - 8,381 8,381 
 -------------- --------------     -------------- 
31 December 2009 & 2010 2,521 13,570 16,091 
 -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Accumulated amortization    
1 January 2009 840 1,730 2,570 
Amortization 840 1,730 2,570 
Impairment - 1,729 1,729 
 -------------- -------------- -------------- 
31 December 2009 1,680 5,189 6,869 
Amortization 841 4,656 5,497 
 -------------- -------------- -------------- 
31 December 2010     2,521 9,845 12,366 
 -------------- -------------- -------------- 
Net book value    
31 December 2010 - 3,725 3,725 
 ======== ======== ======== 
31 December 2009 841 8,381 9,222 
 ======== ======== ======== 
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14.  Investment in subsidiaries 
   
  Investment in subsidiaries consists of the following: 
 
                                                                                                                              Company 
   2010 2009 
   $’000 $’000 
 At cost: 
 Jamaica Gypsum and Quarries Limited  
           375,000,000 ordinary shares     79,000 79,000  
       
 Rockfort Mineral Bath Complex Limited    
                 21,000,000 ordinary shares   6,310 6,310  
      
 Caribbean Gypsum Company Limited 
          1,000 ordinary shares   4,000 4,000    
    ----------------- -----------------  
    89,310 89,310 
   ========= =========                
 
15. Inventories 
 
 Inventories consist of the following: 
 
          Group                                 Company 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Plant spares 764,776 766,077 764,776 766,035  
 Consumables 223,671 369,792 223,670 369,792 
 Raw materials and  
    work in progress 908,381 1,087,985 940,844 1,136,682 
 Finished goods 378,562 440,820 337,111 347,991 
 Goods in transit 5,716 18,964 5,716 18,964 
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
  2,281,106 2,683,638 2,272,117 2,639,464 
 Provision for obsolescence (2,614) (2,614) (2,614) (2,614)  
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
  2,278,492 2,681,024 2,269,503 2,636,850  
  ========= ========= ========= =========    
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16. Receivables and prepayments  
 
  

Group                                 Company 
    

  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Trade receivables 384,339 175,134 347,325 155,691 
 Sundry receivables     
 and prepayments 190,457 259,183 186,577 254,561  
                                                         ----------------       ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- 
  574,796 434,317 533,902 410,252  

 Less:  Impairment provision    (42,600)  (10,777)   (40,327)           (8,504)            
________ ________ _________ ________ 

 
  532,196 423,540 493,575 401,748 
                                                                                                                                 
 
 Changes in impairment provision 

 
 

 
       

 
                                
 
      
      
       
  
                                                                                                                                              
As at 31 December, the aging analysis of trade receivables net of impaired provision is as 
follows:  

                                                
The Group 

  
 
 

Total 

Neither 
past due 

nor 
impaired 

Past due but not impaired 
 

< 30 days  
   

30-60 
days 

 
61-90 
days  

 
> 90 days 

 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
       

2010 341,739 175,238 75,907 61,194 19,901    9,499 
2009 164,357 129,727 25,853   2,724      536    5,517 
       

 Group          
individually 

impaired 

Company          
individually 

impaired 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     

Balance as at 1 January  10,777 10,886 8,504 7,821 
Charges (recoveries)  31,823 (109) 31,823 683 

 ---------------- --------------- --------------- --------------- 
Balance as at 31 December  42,600 10,777 40,327 8,504 

 ======== ======= ======== ======== 
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16.   Receivables and prepayments (continued) 
 

The Company 
  

 
Total 

Neither  
past due 

nor 
impaired 

Past due but not impaired 
 

< 30 days  
 

30-60 
days  

 
61-90 
days 

 
>90 days  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
       

2010 306,998 167,880 72,296 57,337      72 9,413 
2009 147,187 116,952 22,423   1,759    536 5,517 
       

 
17. Due from related companies 
 
 Due from related companies consists of the following:  
 
                           Group                               Company 
      2010 2009 2010 2009 
           $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

  
 Readymix (West Indies) Limited 49 51 49 51 
 Arawak Cement Company Limited 62,019 56,863 41,589 43,415 
 TCL Trading Limited  43,502 49,655 43,502 49,655  
 TCL Guyana Limited 33,988 - 33,988 - 
 Trinidad Cement Limited 5,853 84,008 - 50,555 
                                                  ---------------- ----------------- ---------------- ----------------- 
  145,411 190,577 119,128 143,676 
  ========= ========= ========= =========             
                   
18. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following: 
 

Group                                 Company 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 Cash at bank and in hand 154,056 81,876 144,834 77,601  

========= =========   ========= =========                       
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19. Bank overdraft 
   

Group                                 Company 
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  
 Bank overdraft                                  168,153  - 168,153 - 
   ========= ========= ========= ========= 
 Bank overdraft facilities are unsecured.   
 
20. Payables and accruals 
 
 Payables and accruals consist of the following: 
 

Group                                 Company   
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
 Sundry payables and accruals       1,630,422 1,552,714 1,627,308   1,538,891                  
 Trade payables                                453,726 555,753         434,625 538,110      
 Statutory obligations               85,025 176,240           82,250   173,221            
                                                       -----------------             -----------------    -----------------          -----------------                        
                                                        2,169,173 2,284,707 2,144,183 2,250,222    
                                                      _                                 
 
 
21. Due to parent and related companies 
 
 The amounts due to parent and related companies consist of the following: 
 

Group                                 Company   
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 
 TCL Ponsa Manufacturing Ltd             8,317  4,327 8,317        4,327          
 Trinidad Cement Limited              2,525,458 1,996,077      2,525,458 1,996,077  
 TCL (Nevis) Limited                        127,849 63,586      127,849 63,586  
 TCL Packaging Limited                   373,940  301,527 373,940 301,527    
 TCL Trading Limited                72,181 58,545  72,181         58,545    
     ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
  3,107,745 2,424,062 3,107,745 2,424,062 
   ========= ========= ========= ========= 
    
 Long-term                  2,165,895  2,068,499 2,165,895 2,068,499  
 Short-term 941,850  355,563      941,850  355,563  
  ------------------ ---------------- ---------------- ----------------- 
  3,107,745 2,424,062 3,107,745 2,424,062 
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21. Due to parent and related companies (continued) 
    2010 2009 
    $’000 $’000 
 The long term amount comprises the following: 
 Trinidad Cement Limited (Note 25)   1,993,460 1,996,077  
 TCL Packaging Limited   146,245 129,286  
 TCL Trading Limited   53,809 56,102  
 TCL Nevis Limited   103,818 -  
    ---------------- ----------------- 
    2,297,332 2,181,465  
 Less current portion included in short-term   (131,437) (112,966)  
    ----------------          ----------------- 
    2,165,895 2,068,499  
    ========= =========                   

 
 Trinidad Cement Limited: 
 

      Loan # 
Interest rate  

per annum                  
   %  2010 2009 2010 2009 
      US$’000 US$’000 $’000 $’000 
        
  1 8.20 - 13,000 - 1,161,030 
  2 10.50  3,625 5,625 310,510 502,361 
  3 10.00 2,249 - 192,647 - 
  4 10.00 13,706 - 1,174,062 - 
    19,580 18,625 1,677,219 1,663,391 
        
    TT$’000      TT$’000   
  5 10.00 23,700 23,700 316,241 332,686 
        
    23,700 23,700 316,241 332,686 

    
Loan # 1 was received in December 2008 with an original value of US$11.9m and tenure of 
18 months.  During the year 2009, an additional net disbursement of US$1.1m was received 
bringing the total loan to US$13m. However, in January 2010, it was converted to 
redeemable preference shares denominated in US dollars with repayment of interest and 
redemption at the sole discretion of the Company (Note 25). 
  
Loan # 2 represents Kiln 5 lease payable renegotiated as a long term loan in September 
2009. In January 2010, US$2m of the loan was converted to redeemable preference shares 
with payment of interest and redemption at the sole discretion of the Company. The 
remaining portion of the long term loan is repayable in 16 quarterly installments, 
commencing March 2011. 
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21. Due to parent and related companies (continued) 
 
Trinidad Cement Limited (continued): 
 
Loan # 3 represents Kiln 5 lease payable converted to a long term loan in March 2010.  
During the year the loan was revised to mature on 31 January 2013.  
 
Loan # 4 represents lease obligations (Kiln 5 and Cement Mill 5) payable and Kiln 5 current 
advance payable converted to a long term loan in September 2010. It is repayable upon 
maturity on 30 September 2013.  
 
Loan # 5 represents Kiln 4 lease payable converted to a long term loan in December 2009.  
During the year the loan was revised to mature on 31 January 2013.  
 

           TCL Packaging Limited: 
 

Interest rate  
   per annum                           

   %    2010        2009 2010 2009 
 TT $’000    TT$’000 $’000 $’000 

     
                9.50 10,960  9,210 146,245 129,286 

 10,960 9,210 146,245 129,286 
 
This loan was received in 2006 with an original value of TT$9.2m and tenure of four 
years. In December 2010, outstanding interest of TT$1.7m was capitalized bringing the 
total loan value to TT$10.9m. Additionally, the tenure was extended to 2013. The loan is 
payable in four semi-annual installments, commencing June 2012. 

 
TCL Trading Limited: 

       
     Loan # Interest rate per annum                   
  % 2010 2009 2010 2009  

  TT$’000 TT$’000 $’000 $’000  
        
 1 7.00 2,635 2,611 35,157 36,655  
 2 7.50 1,398 1,385 18,652 19,447  
   4,033 3,996 53,809 56,102  

 
Loan # 1 was received in 2008 and is repayable in four semi-annual installments which 
began in June 2009.    
 
Loan # 2 represents short term advances converted to a long term loan in December 
2007.  It is repayable in 12 equal quarterly installments which began in March 2009. 
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21. Due to parent and related companies (continued) 
 
TCL Nevis Limited: 

    
 Interest rate per annum                 
 % 2010 2009 2010 2009 

 US$’000 US$’000 $’000 $’000 
      
 10.00 1,212 - 103,818 - 
  1,212 - 103,818 - 

 
This loan represents management fees converted to a long term loan in September 
2010.  It is repayable upon maturity in September 2013. 
. 

22. Due to subsidiary 
  

This represents trade amounts owing to Jamaica Gypsum and Quarries Limited. 
 

23. Short-term loans 
          Group                          Company                                    
  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  
 Bank of Nova Scotia (Ja.) Ltd 120,000 205,000 120,000 205,000  

RBTT Bank Jamaica Limited  556,587 582,077         556,587  582,077          
 (see table below) ---------------- ---------------- -------------        ------------- 
                                                          676,587  787,077       676,587 787,077    
  ========= ========= ======= ========
  
 Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited  

 
 

     

  Loan #                        
Interest rate 
 per annum 

          Group 
            Balance 

 Company 
Balance 

     % 2010 2009 2010 2009 
             $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

      
1 22.50 - 75,000 - 75,000 
2 16.75 120,000 130,000 120,000 130,000 

  120,000 205,000 120,000 205,000 
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23. Short-term loans (continued) 
 

Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited (continued) 
 

 Bank of Nova Scotia loan #1, denominated in Jamaican dollars repayable in quarterly 
installments, was fully repaid in August 2010.  

 
 Bank of Nova Scotia loan #2 is denominated in Jamaican dollars with an original amount 

of $130,000,000 which was received in September 2009. The loan is repayable on demand. 
 
         RBTT Bank Jamaica Limited 

 
      

  Loan #                        
Interest rate  
per annum 

          Group 
            Balance 

          Company 
         Balance 

     % 2010 2009 2010 2009 
             $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

1 9.50 61,587 87,077 61,587 87,077 
2                     15.75         135,000 135,000 135,000 135,000 
3                     21.00 360,000 360,000 360,000 360,000 

  556,587 582,077 556,587 582,077 
 
 RBTT loans # 1, is denominated in US dollars with outstanding balance of US$715,000, 

and is to be repaid within twelve months. 
 
 RBTT loan #2 is denominated in Jamaican dollars and is repayable in July 2011.  
 
 RBTT loan #3 is denominated in Jamaican dollars and is repayable in September 2011. 
        



    

 
CARIBBEAN CEMENT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(Expressed in Jamaican Dollars) 
 

50 
 

24.    Long-term loans 
 
  Long-term loans are repayable as follows: 

                                Group and Company 
    2010 2009 
    $’000 $’000 
 Amounts repayable within: 
 One year   3,940 2,900 
 Two years   1,356 1,747 
 Three years   1,060 1,431 
 Four years   1,060 -  
 Five years    530 - 
    ---------------- ----------------                                                 
    7,946 6,078 
 Current portion   (3,940) (2,900) 
    ---------------- ----------------                                           
    4,006 3,178  
    ========= =========        
               

 These loans are:  
   Interest                
  rate                                    Group and Company 
   percentage   Repayable 2010 2009 
     $’000 $’000 

 
RBTT Bank Jamaica Limited               21.75%       2012 804 1,312 
  
Bank of Nova Scotia                      19.50%       On demand 2,372 4,766  
 
Other             20.00% 2015 4,770 - 
   ------------ ------------ 
    7,946 6,078 
            =======             =======               

  
Each loan is secured by bills of sale over certain of the Company’s motor vehicles. The 
loans are repayable in equal monthly installments. The category of loan classified as 
“Other”, represents a motor vehicle loan which was provided to a Company executive in 
accordance with the Company’s motor vehicle policy. 
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25. Share capital  
 
 Share capital consists of the following: 
 
  Number of Number of              
 units units              Group and Company 
 2010 2009 2010 2009            
 (000) (000) $’000 $’000 
 Authorized: 
  
 Ordinary shares of no  
                   par value             1,350,000 1,350,000 
 
 Preference shares 15,000 -   
 ========= =========                    
  
 Issued and fully paid: 
 
 Ordinary stock units of no  
                   par value   851,138 851,138 1,808,837 1,808,837  
 
  Preference shares 15,000 - 1,339,650 - 
    ---------------- ---------------- 
    3,148,487 1,808,837 
 ========= ========= ========= =========  

 
On 5 January 2010 at an Extraordinary General Meeting the members approved a 
resolution for the conversion of US$15,000,000 of the Company’s indebtedness to TCL 
into fifteen million (15,000,000) redeemable preference shares of US$1 each. (Note 21)  
 
The preference shares confer upon the holders thereof no right at any time to receive any 
dividend beyond such dividend as the Company may, at its discretion, declare upon the 
preference shares provided that if the Company shall declare any dividend on its ordinary 
stock units it shall at the same time declare a dividend on the preference shares at a rate no 
lower than the rate declared on the ordinary stock units.  All dividends declared upon the 
preference shares shall be paid in United States dollars. 
 
The preference shares may be redeemed at any time at the sole discretion of the Company. 
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26. Pension plan 
 

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension plan which is managed by an 
independent party, Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited.  This plan is mandatory for all categories 
of permanent employees.  Contributions are 10% of pensionable salary for both employee 
and employer.  The amount of annual pension at any date shall be that pension which can 
be secured by the accumulated contribution plus interest to that date. The Group’s 
contributions in the year amounted to $64,145,000 (2009 - $65,966,000). 

 
27.     Contingencies 

 
There are several pending legal actions and other claims, estimated at $62,000,000 at the 
year end, in which the Group is involved. It is the opinion of the directors, based on the 
information provided by the Company’s Attorneys, that liability, if any, arising out of these 
claims is not likely to be material. Accordingly, no provision has been made in these 
financial statements in respect of these matters. 

 
28. Commitments 
 

a)  Operating leases 
The Company has commitments of $23,507,796,000 (US$274,436,553) under the 
operating leases with Trinidad Cement Limited, which are payable semi-annually in 
United States dollars (Note 3). 

 
In the year ending 31 December: 

 
    $’000 
    
 2011  1,819,719 
 2012  1,839,700 
 2013  1,858,376 
 2014  1,867,030 
 2015-2028  16,122,971 
                          __________ 
    23,507,796 
   ===========                                

b) Capital commitment 
 There were no capital commitments at 31 December 2010. At 31 December 2009 

capital commitments of $35,000,000 (US$392,000) were approved and contracted for 
in respect of the expansion and modernization programme.  

       
 c)   Guarantees 

The Company has provided guarantees in the form of letters of credit and indemnity to 
third parties in the amount of $216,084,000 (2009 - $190,923,000). 
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29. Limestone reserves 
 
The major raw material used in the cement manufacturing process is limestone. The 
limestone requirements of the Company are met from reserves in land leased from the 
Government of Jamaica. The lease term has 38 years remaining but exploitable reserves are 
expected to have a life of 168 years based on the current extraction rate.  Deep reserves 
have a further exploitable life of approximately 126 years.  These limestone reserves are 
not recorded in these financial statements. 
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30.    Operating segment reporting  
 

As at 31 December 2010 
  

 
Cement 

 Gypsum 
and 

pozzolan  

 Adjustments 
and 

eliminations 

  
 

Consolidated 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Revenue        
External customers 7,747,425  182,358  -  7,929,783 
Inter-segment 9,620  281,096  (290,716)  - 
        
Total revenue 7,757,045  463,454  (290,716)  7,929,783 
Results        
Depreciation and 

amortization 368,710 
 

18,142 
 

- 
 

386,852 
Segment loss before 

tax (2,243,892) 
 

(14,703) 
 

16,235 
 

(2,242,360) 
        
Operating assets 9,030,950  371,070  (202,432)  9,199,588 
Operating liabilities 6,203,292  71,892  (98,149)  6,177,035 
        
Other disclosure        
Capital expenditure 356,429  5,731  -  362,160 

 
As at 31 December 2009 
 
 

 
 

Cement 

 Gypsum 
and 

pozzolan  

 Adjustments 
and 

eliminations 

  
 

Consolidated 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Revenue        
External customers 8,698,109  171,151  -  8,869,260 
Inter-segment 11,562  322,639  (334,201)  - 
        
Total revenue 8,709,671  493,790  (334,201)  8,869,260 
        
Results        
Depreciation and 

amortization 295,832 
 

22,003 
 

- 
 

317,835 
Segment profit (loss) 

before tax 26,410 
 

194,591 
 

(462,029) 
 

(241,028) 
        
Operating assets 8,815,203  335,527  26,953  9,177,683 
Operating liabilities 5,467,439  33,776  436,372  5,937,587 
        
Other disclosure        
Capital expenditure 969,155  11,357  -  980,512 
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies   
 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise bank loans and overdrafts, operating 
leases, trade payables and related party balances. The Group has various financial assets 
such as trade receivables, cash and short-term deposits and related party balances which 
arise directly from its operations.   

 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks which are summarized below. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Group has no significant 
concentrations of credit risk. Cash and short-term deposits are placed with reputable 
financial institutions. The primary concentration of the Group’s credit risk is with its trade 
receivables, which is mitigated by regular credit evaluation of its customers’ credit 
worthiness and credit limits.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis to mitigate the Group’s exposure to bad debts. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. At 31 December 2010, the Group’s exposure related to 
bank overdraft which had a floating interest rate. There was no significant interest rate risk 
as at 31 December 2009. The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of 
fixed and variable rate debts. The interest rate exposure of borrowings is as follows: 

  
Group                                   Company 

  2010 2009 2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Total borrowings: 
 At fixed rates 2,981,865 2,861,654 2,981,865 2,861,654 
 At floating rates 168,153 - 168,153 -  
  ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
  3,150,018 2,861,654 3,150,018 2,861,654 
  ==========  ==========        ==========  ==========                     
 Weighted average effective interest rates: 
  
  (%) (%) (%) (%) 
 Bank overdraft 22.0 - 22.0 -  
 Bank borrowings (US$ loans) 9.5 9.5 9.5 9.5  
 Other bank borrowings 19.0 21.0 19.0 21.0  

Related party loans 10.0 8.0 10.0        8.0                 

                        ======   ====== ====== ======  
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 
 Interest rate risk (continued) 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates of the Group’s and Company’s loss before tax, with all other variables held constant. 

        Group & Company 
       Increase/decrease  Effect on profit 
             in basis points                 before tax 
                  $’000 
2010 
JMD +100          (1,681) 
JMD -100           1,681 
 
2009 
JMD +100                  - 
JMD -100                  - 
  ======        ======  

 
Foreign currency risk 
 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group has transactional currency 
exposures.  Such exposure arises from purchases by the Group in currencies other than its 
functional currency.  Approximately sixty percent (60%) of the Group’s purchases are 
denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the 
following exchange rates of the Group’s and the Company’s loss before tax, with all other 
variables held constant.  
       
                      Group                   Company 
         Change in    effect on profit          effect on profit 
           Exchange rate before tax                  before tax 
                         $’000                         $’000 
  
2010                         US$                    +5% 164,273 172,618 
                          US$                     -5% (164,273)                 (172,618) 
 
                          TT$                    +5% 8,835                        8,835 
                          TT$                 -5% (8,835)                     (8,835) 
    
                          Euro +5% 654                          654 
                          Euro                   -5% (654)  (654)                   
    ====== ======                         
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 
Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 
                                  Group                   Company 
         Change in    effect on profit          effect on profit 
           exchange rate before tax                  before tax 
                         $’000                         $’000 
 
2009                         US$                   +5%   (82,441)                     (84,668)                          

US$                    -5%  82,441                        84,668 
 
                          TT$                   +5%  (36,360)                     (36,360) 
                          TT$                    -5%  36,360                       36,360 
 
      Euro                  +5%  (1,768)                       (1,768)  
                          Euro                   -5%  1,768                          1,768 
                                                                                                                                       ========                             ======== 

 
 Liquidity risk 
 Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 

commitments associated with financial instruments. The Group maintains a balance 
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdraft, bank loans 
and related party financing. 

 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 
December 2010 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
 

                                                                                     The Group  
 On Less than 3            3 to 12             1 to 5     Over 

As at 31 December 2010 demand    months months             years            5 years              Total 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   $’000       $’000      $’000       $’000  $’000 $’000 
 

Interest bearing loans         
     and borrowings        288,153      65,337           626,628     2,169,900     -         3,150,018 

             Due to related companies - 810,413 - - - 810,413 
Trade and other payables - 2,169,173      - - - 2,169,173 

  -------------        --------------     --------------     --------------   ---------------        ------------- 
 288,153             3,044,923   626,628 2,169,900 - 6,129,604 
 ======= ========   ======== =======    ========= ======== 
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

                                                                                     The Group  
 On Less than 3            3 to 12             1 to 5 Over 

As at 31 December 2009 demand    months months             years            5 years              Total 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   $’000       $’000      $’000       $’000  $’000 $’000 
 
 Interest bearing loans  
                 and borrowings - 29,744 760,233 2,071,677 - 2,861,654 
 Due to related companies - 230,315 125,248 - - 355,563 
 Trade and other payables - 2,284,707 - - - 2,284,707 
  -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 
  - 2,544,766 885,481 2,071,677 - 5,501,924 
  ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= ======= 
  
 The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 

31 December 2010 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
 

                                                                                     The Company  
 On Less than 3            3 to 12             1 to 5 Over 

As at 31 December 2010 demand    months months             years            5 years             Total 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   $’000       $’000      $’000       $’000  $’000 $’000 
 

Interest bearing loans 
 and borrowings  288,153  65,337 626,628 2,169,900 - 3,150,018 

Due to related companies - 810,413 - - - 810,413 
Trade and other payables - 2,144,183 - - - 2,144,183 

  ------------        -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- -------------- 
          288,153 3,019,933           626,628      2,169,900                     -         6,104,614 
 ======= ========   ======= ========    ======== ======== 

 
                                                                                     The Company  

 On Less than 3            3 to 12             1 to 5 Over 
As at 31 December 2009 demand    months months             years            5 years              Total 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

   $’000       $’000      $’000       $’000  $’000 $’000 
 

Interest bearing loans 
 and borrowings  - 29,744 760,233 2,071,677                       - 2,861,654  

Due to related companies - 230,315 125,248                    -                       -        355,563 
Trade and other payables -           2,250,222                     -                      -                       -   2,250,222  

  -------------            -------------- -------------- --------------     -------------- -------------- 
                 - 2,510,281           885,481     2,071,677      -        5,467,439 
 ======= ========   ======== ========    ======== ======== 
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31.    Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

Capital management 
 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a 
healthy financial position in order to support its business activities and maximise 
shareholder value.  The Group is required to comply with several financial ratios and other 
quantitative targets in accordance with certain loan agreements.  Important among these 
targets is a current ratio of not less than 0.9.  
  

 Fair values 
 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, 

between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The fair value of 
financial instruments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is determined 
by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the statement of 
financial position date.  For financial instruments where there is no active market, fair 
value is determined using valuation techniques.  Such techniques include using recent 
arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current market value of another 
instrument which is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation 
models.  

 The Group 
 Carrying amount  Fair values 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 154,056 81,876 154,056 81,876 
Receivables  381,296 211,936 381,296 211,936 
Due from related companies 145,411 190,577 145,411 190,577 
   
Financial liabilities   
Bank overdraft 168,153 - 168,153 - 
Payables  1,821,879     1,689,316 1,821,879     1,689,316 
Due to related companies 3,107,745 2,424,062 1,868,383 1,785,923 
Short term loans 676,587 787,077 676,587 787,077 
Long term loans 7,946 6,078 6,329 4,888 
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31. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

Fair values (continued) 
 

 The Company 
 Carrying amount  Fair values 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 144,834 77,601 144,834 77,601 
Receivables  345,476 190,144 345,476 190,144 
Due from related companies 119,128 143,676 119,128 143,676 
   Financial liabilities   
Bank overdraft 168,153 - 168,153 - 
Payables  1,799,466 1,671,753 1,799,466 1,671,753 
Due to related companies 3,107,745 2,424,062 1,868,383 1,785,923 
Short term loans 676,587 787,077 676,587 787,077 
Long term loans 7,946 6,078 6,329 4,888 

 
32. Subsequent events 
 

On 14 January 2011, Trinidad Cement Limited (TCL) declared a moratorium on all debt 
service payments due by all entities in the TCL Group including Caribbean Cement 
Company Limited and its Subsidiaries. The declaration was made after informal agreement 
with the majority of lenders who wanted to ensure adequate liquidity in the TCL Group to 
allow for continuity of business operations. Subsequent to the declaration, debt service 
payments falling due have not been made. The majority of lenders have formed a Steering 
Committee to participate in the debt re-profiling negotiations, commenced by TCL, and 
have caused the engagement of independent restructuring consultants and legal advisors. 
The restructuring consultants have completed their review and report on the TCL Group’s 
business plans and financial projections which will form the basis of the re-profiling. TCL 
Group expects the re-profiling exercise to be completed by 31 July 2011. The debt re-
profiling exercise is intended to facilitate the full repayment of all debt obligations and 
position TCL Group to prosper from the rebound in market conditions. 
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